#### University of Montana

# ScholarWorks at University of Montana

Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers

**Graduate School** 

2015

# THE EFFECT OF SPATIAL PATTERNS OF SOIL HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY AND DEPTH ON LOCAL AND HILLSLOPE SCALE SHALLOW WATER TABLE DYNAMICS

Casey E. Ryan University of Montana - Missoula

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd

Part of the Hydrology Commons, Other Earth Sciences Commons, and the Other Physical Sciences and Mathematics Commons

Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

#### **Recommended Citation**

Ryan, Casey E., "THE EFFECT OF SPATIAL PATTERNS OF SOIL HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY AND DEPTH ON LOCAL AND HILLSLOPE SCALE SHALLOW WATER TABLE DYNAMICS" (2015). *Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers.* 4443. https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd/4443

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at ScholarWorks at University of Montana. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at University of Montana. For more information, please contact scholarworks@mso.umt.edu.

# THE EFFECT OF SPATIAL PATTERNS OF SOIL HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY AND DEPTH ON LOCAL AND HILLSLOPE SCALE SHALLOW WATER TABLE DYNAMICS

#### By

#### CASEY EDWARD RYAN

Bachelor of Science in Geography, with Honors, University of Montana, Missoula, MT, 2012

Thesis

presented in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science Forestry, Hydrology and Watershed Management

> The University of Montana Missoula, MT

> > May 2015

Approved by:

Sandy Ross, Dean of The Graduate School Graduate School

Dr. Kelsey Jencso College of Forestry and Conservation

Dr. Jim Riddering College of Forestry and Conservation

> Dr. Marco Maneta Department of Geosciences

# © COPYRIGHT

by

Casey E. Ryan

2015

All Rights Reserved

Ryan, Casey, M.S., Spring 2015

Forestry

# THE EFFECT OF SPATIAL PATTERNS OF SOIL HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY AND DEPTH ON LOCAL AND HILLSLOPE SCALE SHALLOW WATER TABLE DYNAMICS

Chairperson: Dr. Kelsey Jencso

#### ABSTRACT

Much research in forested headwater catchments has focused on the role of topography for organizing subsurface flow and the hydrologic connectivity of upland flow paths to stream networks. However, little work has been conducted to evaluate how localized and hillslope scale patterns of hydraulic conductivity and soil depth contribute to spatial patterns of water table duration, magnitude, and connectivity. I monitored shallow groundwater dynamics in wells distributed across a 1<sup>st</sup> order hillslope in the Lubrecht Experimental Forest, Montana. Additionally, I collected *in-situ* measurements of soil saturated hydraulic conductivity and soil depth at 10m intervals across the study hillslope and compared these values to the well hydrologic response. Similar to previous studies, my results indicated that upslope accumulated area was a first-order control on the duration of soil saturation. However, I found that local soil hydraulic properties modulate hillslope scale controls on the duration, magnitude, and extent of groundwater development. Generally, local contributing areas with higher saturated hydraulic conductivity values exhibited lower magnitudes of water table depth and variability in water table depths, lower median water table height, and less cumulative duration of hydrologic connectivity with upslope landscape positions. Additionally, areas with more variable bedrock topography required higher antecedent wetness conditions for the development of transient water tables. These results demonstrate not only the importance of hillslope scale topography for controlling hillslope water table dynamics, but the need to also consider local patterns of soils characteristics and bedrock topography. This study advances the science of hydrology by addressing previously unresolved questions regarding the relative roles of spatial patterns in topography, hydraulic conductivity and soil depth on local and hillslope scale shallow water table dynamics. A better understanding of these local and nonlocal processes may contribute to improved conceptualizations of factors affecting runoff generation and the degree of watershed scale hydrologic connectivity that influences discharge dynamics in forested mountain watersheds.

#### Acknowledgements

Foremost, thank you to Dr. R. Michael Ceballos for inspiring me to enroll in graduate school. Michael provided me with several undergraduate research opportunities, including international experiences, which were foundational in my decision to apply to a master's program. I appreciate the generous amount of time Michael put into encouraging me to succeed in school and continue on to earn my Master's degree. I thank Michael for always believing in me and encouraging me to challenge myself. I am not the only student who decided to enroll in an advanced degree program due to Michael's commitment to Native American academic success.

Thank you to Dr. Aaron Thomas, Director of Indigenous Research and STEM Education, for working tirelessly on behalf of the Native American community at the University of Montana. Aaron facilitates numerous academic and personal development opportunities for students. Aaron is an amazing advocate, and I sincerely appreciate the time I was able to spend with him.

I was able to afford a graduate education through the generous financial support of the Alfred P. Sloan Foundation, S&K Technologies, the Montana Institute on Ecosystems, the UM Indigenous Research and Stem Education program, the UM Native American Research Lab, the Ralph E. and Hulda M. Fields Foundation, and the Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes. These entities all have my sincere gratitude for making higher education financially attainable.

My internship with the United States Fish & Wildlife Service was an extremely valuable opportunity to put into practice many of the concepts I learned during my graduate education. In particular, I wish to thank Meg Estep, Chief of the Division of Water Resources for the training and professional development opportunities she provided for me during my internship. Meg is truly a champion in conserving, protecting, and enhancing fish, wildlife, plants, and their habitat for the continuing benefit of the American people.

Thank you to my advisor, Dr. Kelsey Jencso, for the time and effort he put into helping me bring this thesis to completion. Kelsey was very helpful in assisting me with

iv

study design, field work, and data analysis. Kelsey's letters of support helped me to secure the funding necessary to finance my graduate education. In addition, Kelsey's thoughtful and thorough review has significantly improved this thesis.

My committee members, Dr. Jim Riddering and Dr. Marco Maneta, were very helpful in discussions about my research. Thank you to Jim and Marco for your new perspectives, thoughtful feedback, and helpful suggestions.

The fine people of the Watershed Hydrology Lab have my gratitude for their assistance with fieldwork. Emily, Zac, and Anna were willing to join me in the woods regardless of other personal responsibilities, and did so in the face of inclimate weather and severe avalanche danger.

I am blessed with many great friends who have also endured the Sisyphean experience of graduate school. I thank the Anthropology Drinking Team for their repeated affirmation of my sanity and self-worth during our Friday Happy Hour gatherings, and for sharing with me their stories of survival.

Thank you to my loving family, whose photographs on my desk continuously remind me that I am not alone in this endeavor. I have been blessed with Les and Lindsay, wonderful parents who are generous and unfailing with their love, their praise, and their support. My sister, Kelly, has shown me the true meaning of strength, bravery, determination, and self-empowerment. My nephews, Dresyn and Carter, remind me to continually seek adventures, and to view the world through a lens of wonder and curiosity. I am very proud of my family, and ineffably grateful for them.

Finally, thank you to my brilliant and beautiful fiancée Cheyenne, without whom this thesis would not have been possible. Her tolerance of my stress and frustrations are testament to her love and constant support. Cheyenne is an inspiring coach, a wise counselor, and skilled editor. But most of all, she is a generous and loyal friend.

## **Table of Contents**

List of Tables
List of Figuresix
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 Introduction1
1.2 Research Objectives4
Chapter 2: Methods5
2.1 Site Description
2.2 Site Selection
2.3 Well Installation and Water Table Dynamics7
2.4 Snow Water Equivalent7
2.5 Calculation of an Antecedent Moisture Index8
2.6 Soil Depth9
2.7 Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity9
2.8 Geographic Information Systems10
Chapter 3: Results12
3.1 Hydrologic Inputs12
3.2 Landscape and Spatial Analysis12
3.3 Hillslope Water Table Dynamics13
3.4 Non-local Controls on the Duration of Saturation14
3.5 Local Soil Characteristics Modulate Topographic Controls on Water Table
3.6 Local Spatial Patterns of Ksat May Affect Hydrologic Connectivity between Wells
3.7 Initiation of Well Saturation as a Function of Antecedent Wetness and Variability in Bedrock
Chapter 4: Discussion
4.1 Do Local Soil Patterns of Ksat Modulate Upslope Topographic Controls on the Duration and Magnitude of Soil Saturation?
4.2 Do Well Contributing Areas with Greater Ksat Values Have Decreased Connectivity to Upslope Well Positions Relative to Those with Low Ksat?

4.3 Do Well Contributing Areas with Larger Proportions of High Ksat Soils and The with More Variability in Bedrock Topography Have a Higher Antecedent Moisture Threshold for Water Table Development?	se 20
4.4 Concentual Model of Hillslope Flow Processes	20 22
4.4 Conceptual model of milliope Flow Flocesses	ZZ
4.5 Opportunities for Future Research	23
4.0 Implications	20
4.7 Summary	20
	21
Tables and Figures	29
References	46
Appendix	53
••	

## List of Tables

Table 1	Determination of SWE interpolation resolution	29
Table 2	Determination of Ksat interpolation resolution	29
Table 3	Determination of soil depth interpolation resolution	29
Table 4	Summary statistics for SWE measurements across the entire study hillslope	29
Table 5	Summary statistics for SWE measurements within the study area	30
Table 6	Upslope accumulated area values for each hillslope well	30
Table 7	Descriptive statistics for Ksat measurements	30
Table 8	Descriptive statistics for depth-to-bedrock measurements	31
Table 9	Spatial autocorrelation report for field measurements	31

# List of Figures

Figure 1	Lubrecht study area32
Figure 2	Study hillslope map and measurement locations
Figure 3	Schematic diagram of the Compact Constant Head Permeameter34
Figure 4	Maps of interpolated geophysical data35
Figure 5	H <sub>2</sub> 0 inputs & water table time series with local contributing areas36
Figure 6	Cumulative duration of saturation as a function of UAA
Figure 7	Local mean Ksat as an explanatory variable for residuals
Figure 8	Boxplots of water table heights during saturation vs local Ksat39
Figure 9	Median water table height as a function of local Ksat40
Figure 10	Hydrologic connectivity as a function of local mean Ksat41
Figure 11	API at wet up as a function of Ksat42
Figure 12	API at wet up as a function of variability in bedrock topography43
Figure 13	Conceptual diagram of hillslope moisture states44
Figure 14	Conceptual framework of flow processes45

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### **1.1 Introduction**

Watershed structure and organization plays an important role in conversion of rainfall to runoff across watersheds. Several mechanisms of runoff generation (e.g. infiltration excess surface runoff, saturation excess runoff, and subsurface flows) have been identified (Horton, 1933; Hewlett and Hibbert, 1967; Freeze, 1974), and many studies have focused on attributes of watershed structure that organize their spatial occurrence. One or more of these mechanisms of runoff generation are often simultaneously present in a particular watershed; for example, a number of researchers (e.g. Pilgrim, Huff, and Steele, 1978; Jordan, 1994; Perrin, Michel, and Andréassian, 2001; Wetzel, 2003; Godsey, Elsenbeer, and Stallard, 2004) report that the spatial heterogeneity in the landscape allows for all of the above-mentioned mechanisms to be present in a particular watershed, one or more of the mechanisms to dominate.

In forested mountain catchments with shallow soils (1-2m) and relatively impermeable bedrock, shallow subsurface flow is often the dominant runoff generation mechanism. During periods of high antecedent moisture, the soil pore volume is often exceeded and subsurface flow may lead to hydrologic connectivity of upslope and downslope runoff contributing areas (McGlynn and McDonnel, 2003; Jencso *et al.*, 2009); hydrologic connectivity refers to water movement from one location to another on the landscape either by surface or subsurface flow (Bracken and Croke, 2007). Empirical and theoretical studies have suggested that watershed topographic, soil, vegetation, and bedrock characteristics are important controls on the spatial variability of hydrologic connectivity between hillslopes and streams (Jencso and McGlynn, 2011). However, few studies have explored how these characteristics lead to patterns of connectivity between areas of runoff generation within hillslopes.

At the scale of individual hillslopes previous studies have highlighted the important role of both surface and bedrock topography for subsurface flow dynamics. For example, in their formative study Beven and Kirkby (1979) found that for hillslopes with relatively shallow soils, and where bedrock topography is assumed to be parallel to the soil surface, the first order controls for subsurface flow response were surface topography (hillslope contributing area and local slope) and differences in soil profile transmissivity (the product of soil depth and horizontal hydraulic conductivity).

More recent work has shown that bedrock topography can partially control spatial patterns of subsurface stormflow initiation (Noguchi et al., 2001; Freer et al., 2002; McGlynn, McDonnell, and Brammer, 2002; Tromp Van-Meerveld and McDonnell, 2006c; Graham, Woods, and McDonnell, 2010). Work by Freer et al. (2002) indicated that bedrock surface topography was a critical factor in the spatial dynamics of soil profile saturation for a single slope at the Panola Mountain Research Watershed in Georgia. Further, in their 2002 study, Freer et al. concluded that patterns of water table development were generally governed by the bedrock topography, with surface topography being an overall poor predictor of subsurface flow patterns. Further work at the same research site by Tromp-Van Meerveld and McDonnell (2006b) revealed that soil moisture was not well correlated with any topographic variables considered in the study, suggesting that soil depth is a first-order control on subsurface stormflow during dry antecedent moisture conditions, with the role of bedrock topography being more pronounced during wet antecedent moisture conditions. While these studies highlighted the need to consider bedrock topography, the studies did not integrate analysis of local patterns of soil hydraulic properties on the effect of subsurface flow dynamics.

Sherlock, Chappell, and McDonnell (2000) suggested that predictions of runoff generation rely on accurate measurements of hydraulic gradients and field-state hydraulic conductivity (K). Further, they emphasized that saturated hydraulic conductivity (Ksat) is a critical hillslope hydrological parameter which should be accurately characterized in studies that attempt to elucidate hillslope scale runoff dynamics. If the cross sectional area, slope, and hydraulic conductivity are known, Darcy's Law (1856) enables the calculation of flow through a porous medium. Thus,

estimation of hydraulic conductivity is important for hillslope hydrology studies, especially modeling efforts, as it represents the ability of the soil to transmit water. However, most hillslope scale studies often do not characterize spatial patterns of hydraulic conductivity which may lead to "markedly inaccurate process inference" (Anderson and Burt, 1978) and a disconnect between the role of upslope topography and local soil characteristics for hillslope runoff generation.

Previous work by Grayson, Western, Chiew, and Blöschl (1997) identified preferred states in spatial soil moisture patterns, differentiating between local and nonlocal controls. Local controls often become more prominent during dry soil states, with vertical fluxes being the dominant form of hydrologic flow, and soil properties and local terrain influencing spatial patterns of soil moisture. Furthermore, the authors identify nonlocal controls as occurring during wet soil states, with primarily lateral movement of water through the soils, and catchment terrain primarily influencing the organization of areas with high soil moisture. These previous studies provided significant first steps in identifying preferred states and drivers of runoff generation. However, the study focused on surficial soil water content (% mass balance) to assess hydrologic redistribution; thus, the study did not directly quantify how local soil characteristics modulated topographic controls on lateral water redistribution.

Many studies have suggested that runoff generation is spatially and temporally variable, and hydrologic connectivity of runoff generation areas is important for overall hillslope (Jencso *et al.*, 2009; Detty and McGuire, 2010) and catchment scale response (Jencso et al., 2009; Jencso and McGlynn, 2011). However, there has not been significant work to evaluate how local soil characteristics may modulate spatial patterns of hydrologic connectivity in a downslope direction and the emergence of hydrologic connectivity at the hillslope scale. Knowledge of the physical processes involved in the development of shallow water table dynamics may be further improved through analysis of the spatial organization of soil depth and hydraulic conductivity which may lead to emergent patterns of hillslope scale hydrologic connectivity. Here, I improve upon previous hillslope investigations by identifying the presence of potentially concurrent effects of local (soil characteristics) and non-local (topography) upon the organization of

subsurface flow and hydrologic connectivity of flowpaths along a hillslope. I address this objective by testing the following hypotheses:

### **1.2 Research Objectives**

Objective: Evaluate the role of spatial patterns in topography, hydraulic conductivity and soil depth on local and hillslope scale shallow water table dynamics.

**H1.** Local spatial patterns of Ksat modulate upslope topographic controls (upslope accumulated area) on the duration and magnitude of soil saturation.

**H2.** Well contributing areas with greater Ksat have decreased connectivity to upslope well positions relative to those with low Ksat due to enhanced drainage in a downslope direction.

**H3.** Well contributing areas with larger proportions of high Ksat soils and those with more variability in bedrock topography have a higher antecedent moisture threshold for water table development relative to those with low Ksat because of enhanced vertical and downslope drainage.

#### **Chapter 2: Methods**

#### 2.1 Site Description

This study was conducted at the University of Montana's Lubrecht Experimental Forest, which has an area of 113 km<sup>2</sup> and is located 56 kilometers east of Missoula, Montana (Figure 1). The elevation of Lubrecht Experimental Forest ranges from 1082m to 1920m above mean sea level, with 75% of the forest having elevations between 1220 – 1524m (Nimlos, 1986). Lubrecht was established in 1937 after 77 km<sup>2</sup> were donated to the state of Montana by the Anaconda Mining Company, with a subsequent gift of 5 km<sup>2</sup> from the Northern Pacific Railroad, and additional land acquisitions from private owners. Lubrecht is managed by the University of Montana for "natural resource study, demonstration, and learning, and public use in a forest setting" (Keyes and Perry, 2010).

Vegetation at Lubrecht is dominated by western larch and douglas-fir on north-facing slopes, ponderosa pine on south-facing slopes, and lodgepole pine throughout the eastern portion of the forest. Much of the vegetation is second-growth, a result of extensive logging and slash burning activities in the early 1900s (College of Forestry and Conservation, n.d.).

The geology of Lubrecht primarily consists of Belt supergroup bedrock and quartz monzonite (granite). Other parent materials present include limestone, Tertiary rock, lamprophyre, and alluvium (Nimlos, 1986). The study hillslope is located in an area with Belt bedrock. Soils in Lubrecht are primarily (86%) inceptisols with tertiary substrate, with some alfisols, mollisols, and entisols present (Nimlos, 1986). The soil profile of the study hillslope has been classified as Winkler gravelly loam: a loamy-skeletal, mixed, frigid Udic Ustochrept (USDA *et al.*, 1995). The Winkler series contain six key soil horizons: An O horizon from 0-5cm consisting of undecomposed and slightly decomposed forest litter, an A horizon from 5-13cm consisting of grayish brown very gravelly sandy loam, an E horizon from 13-69cm consisting of pinkish gray very gravelly sandy loam, an E and Bt horizon from 69-112cm consisting of pinkish gray extremely

gravelly sandy loam, and a C horizon from 112-152cm consisting of pinkish gray extremely gravelly sandy loam, below which lies Belt bedrock (USDA, 2008).

Mean annual precipitation is approximately 457mm, with 44% of annual precipitation arriving during the winter (November through March), and only 24% falling during the summer months of June, July, and August (Nimlos, 1986). The areas of higher elevation in Lubrecht receive an average of 508 to 762 millimeters of precipitation annually (Ross and Hunter, 1976).

This study utilizes a north aspect hillslope in the Cap Wallace watershed of Lubrecht. The hillslope has an area of 32,200m<sup>2</sup>, average slope of 14 degrees with a standard deviation of 6.76. The elevation ranges from 1348m at Cap Wallace Creek to 1534m at the upslope ridgeline. Cap Wallace Road crosses the hillslope at 1430 meters elevation. A convergent hollow, or gulley, runs southwest-northeast approximately 150 meters from the lower Cap Wallace Road to Cap Wallace Creek. The hillslope study area is separated from the surrounding hillslopes by divergent topography in the form of gentle ridgelines. The study plot, below Cap Wallace Road, has an area of 6,700 m<sup>2</sup> (Figure 2).

#### 2.2 Site Selection

Installation locations for groundwater wells were chosen so that four wells would be installed within the convergent hollow, spaced as evenly as possible along the study area, with two sets of two side slope wells installed on opposing sides of the convergent hollow. Sampling sites for SWE, Ksat, and soil depth were generated through the fishnet feature in ArcGIS 10.2. Physical measuring locations were verified on-site through the combined use of a Trimble GeoXT GPS unit, pin flags, and 100m surveying measuring tape. SWE was sampled on a 20x20m grid across the entire hillslope, including upslope of the study area, while soil depth and Ksat were sampled on a 10m grid within the study area. Sampling points were also included outside of the study area boundary to maximize the accuracy of interpolation. Because the goal of the study was to investigate non-local contributing area controls versus local soil characteristics, and to determine which is more important at different spatial and temporal scales, I

discovered to focus this study on the area below Cap Wallace Road. Cap Wallace Road acts as an area of zero soil depth, effectively precluding groundwater connectivity along the hillslope.

#### 2.3 Well Installation and Water Table Dynamics

I installed shallow groundwater monitoring wells at eight locations across the study hillslope. Four wells were installed within the convergent hollow, and four wells were installed in planar side slopes that drain to the main axis of the hollow. The well boreholes were augured to bedrock using a gas-powered auger. 5cm diameter PVC was screened with narrow slits at 1cm increments, and pounded to the bottom of the augured well hole until refusal using a sledgehammer and solid steel rod. To ensure that recorded measurements represented groundwater levels, bentonite clay was used during installation of 1m capped PVC risers to prevent surface water from running down the sides of the installed PVC and into the well. To record water levels in each well I installed water level meters (TruTrack WT-HR Water Height Data Logger), which recorded water table height (1mm resolution) and water temperature (0.1°C resolution) at 30 minute intervals from March 4<sup>th</sup> to September 12<sup>th</sup>, 2014. The resulting water table height data was analyzed to determine cumulative duration of water table persistence, duration of hydrologic connectivity with neighboring wells, lag time between snowmelt and presence of water within each well, as well as summary statistics such as maximum water table height, mean and median values. In order to quantify the cumulative duration of saturation for each water table monitoring well, I analyzed the data collected from the TruTrack data loggers, identifying periods of saturation, defined as a detectible column of water present in the well (>1cm). By multiplying the total number of saturated timestamps by the recording interval (0.5 hours), I calculated the cumulative duration of saturation, in hours, for each water table monitoring well.

#### 2.4 Snow Water Equivalent

At the Lubrecht Experimental Forest, annual hydrologic contributions are dominated by the effect of snow melting and subsequent subsurface runoff generation. To measure

the amount of potential snowmelt water contribution to spatial locations across my study hillslope I calculated peak snow water equivalent (SWE) during the point of maximum annual snowpack. SWE was calculated by manually measuring snow depth ( $h_s$ ) and local bulk density ( $\rho_b$ ) at pre-selected sampling locations using a snow sampling tube and hanging scale (Rickly Hydrological Company). Local bulk density is calculated as

$$\rho_b = \frac{M_s}{V_s}$$

where  $M_s$  is the mass of the snow core (g), and  $V_s$  is the volume of the snow core (cm<sup>3</sup>). Total available SWE (cm) is then calculated as

$$SWE = h_s \frac{\rho_b}{\rho_w}$$

where  $\rho_w$  is the density of water (1 g cm<sup>-3</sup>), and all other terms are as previously defined. (Sturm *et al.*, 2010).

#### 2.5 Calculation of an Antecedent Moisture Index

Previous studies have highlighted the importance of antecedent soil wetness for hillslope subsurface flow generation in semiarid environments (Karnieli and Ben-Asher, 1993; Ceballos and Schnabel, 1998; Fitzjohn, Ternan, and Williams, 1998). To determine the antecedent moisture conditions necessary for groundwater response, I calculated a daily antecedent precipitation index (API) for the study hillslope using precipitation data from the nearby Lubrecht Flume SNOTEL station. The API is calculated as:

$$API_t = (API_{t-\Delta t} \times C) + I_t$$

where  $API_t$  is the antecedent wetness index at time t (cm),  $API_{t-\Delta t}$  is the time interval of input observations, C is a temporal decay of coefficient for antecedent moisture, and  $I_t$ is the precipitation that occurs from  $t - \Delta t$  (cm). I determined a decay coefficient C of 0.96 based upon a best-fit linear relationship (R<sup>2</sup>=0.73) between the calculated API and discharge values from the stilling well in Cap Wallace Creek at the base of the hillslope (sensu McGlynn and McDonnell, 2003; Jencso and McGlynn, in review).

#### 2.6 Soil Depth

Soil depth was measured at 88 pre-selected sampling locations on a 10x10m grid along the study hillslope. Each measurement was conducted using a sledgehammer to drive a 140cm steel rod into the soil to the point of refusal. At some sampling locations, the ability to measure the depth of the complete soil profile was limited to the length of the available steel rod. At these locations, I recorded a total depth of greater than 130cm, and used a value of 130.01cm for data analysis.

#### 2.7 Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity

I used a compact constant-head permeameter (Amoozegar, 1989a) to determine hydraulic conductivity at 88 pre-selected sampling locations on a 10x10m grid within the hillslope. Amoozegar (1992) describes the compact constant head permeameter as being "composed of four constant-head tubes, a 4-L water reservoir, a 1-L flow measuring reservoir, a water dissipating unit, and a base with a three-way valve. The four constant-head tubes are used to maintain a constant level of water in an auger hole up to 2m below the surface" (Figure 3).

I used a hand auger to create an access hole (r=3 cm) to 40cm depth, within the E soil horizon, that allowed for the measurement of the steady-state rate of water flow (Q) into the soil. I chose a constant head (H) such that 15cm<H<20cm, and such that  $H/r \ge 5$ , allowing for the use of the Glover solution to calculate Ksat. I used the Glover solution to calculate saturated hydraulic conductivity based on the gravitational flow from a cylindrical hole (Amoozegar, 1989b):

$$K_{sat} = CQ/(2\pi H^2)$$

Where

$$C = sinh^{-1}(H/r) - (r^2/H^2 + 1)^{1/2} + r/H$$

At some measurement locations, the Ksat value of the soil was high enough that the infiltration rate equaled or exceeded that of the dispersion rate of the Amoozemeter. In

other words, head recovery was too rapid to allow for measurement. For these locations where I was unable to achieve the required *H/r* ratio of greater than or equal to 5, Ksat values are reported as being greater than 20cm/hour, which was the highest reasonable rate of Ksat I observed, above which the soil infiltration rate exceeded the Amoozemeter maximum flow rate and measurement values could not be calculated; therefore, a Ksat value of 20.01cm/hr was used for data analysis. In addition, multiple measurements were taken during different days at a single location in order to determine a measurement error; these measurements had a range of 0.93cm/hr, a standard deviation of 0.42cm/hr, and a standard error of 0.24cm/hr.

#### 2.8 Geographic Information Systems

Surface topography data was obtained from a 10m Digital Elevation Model (DEM) provided by the University of Montana School of Forestry Geographic Information System Program. Areas of hydrologic contribution, or upslope accumulated area, for each well were derived using a combination of the Flow Accumulation tool within ArcGIS 10 and the Upslope Area tool within the Terrain Analysis module of SAGA GIS 2.1 Additional delineations within SAGA GIS 2.1 allowed me to specifically identify the local contributing area to each well, which I define as the area of land which drains to a particular well on the hillslope, yet does not contribute to a neighboring upslope well (sensu Jencso *et al.*, 2009).

SWE, Ksat, and soil depth measurement data were interpolated across the study hillslope using ordinary kriging within ArcGIS 10 software. Ordinary kriging is an interpolation technique that estimates a given Z value at an unobserved location based upon regression against observed Z values of surrounding data points. Ordinary kriging has been shown to be an effective tool for interpolating soil depth (Knotters, Brus and Oude Voshaar, 1995; Penížek and Borůvka, 2006; Almasi, Jalalian and Toomanian, 2014), Ksat (Gallichand, Prasher, Broughton, and Marcotte, 1991; Hosseini, Gallichand, and Caron, 1993; Moradi, Ghonchehpour, Majidi, and Nejad, 2012), and SWE (Carroll, Carroll, and Poston, 1999; Pulliainen, 2006). I used a Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) analysis to determine the optimal raster cell sizes at which to interpolate SWE, Ksat, and soil depth values. RMSE is a function of the difference between the estimated Z values and the observed values.

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} [z(x_i) - \hat{z}(x_i)]^2}$$

where  $\hat{z}(x_i)$  is the predicted value,  $z(x_i)$  is the observed value, and *N* is the number of values in the dataset (Robinson and Metternicht, 2006).

For each dataset, I calculated the RMSE and the correlation of coefficient (R<sup>2</sup>) value for different interpolation approaches (Tables 1-3). Based upon RMSE analysis, I determined to interpolate SWE and soil depth at a 2m cell resolution, and Ksat at 1m (Figure 4b,c,d).

#### **Chapter 3: Results**

#### 3.1 Hydrologic Inputs

To examine hydrologic inputs for the study hillslope. I utilized data from the nearby Lubrecht Flume SNOTEL station (distance: 3.16 kilometers, elevation: 1426m). The watershed received 526mm of precipitation during water year 2014. The maximum snowpack depth of 102cm occurred on February 25<sup>th</sup>, with peak SWE of 21.6cm occurring on March 6<sup>th</sup>, 2014. Locally on my hillslope the measured SWE values for the entire hillslope were centered around 14-17cm depth, with one value of zero (no visible snow present at sampling location), and one value >30cm (Table 4). Much less variation in SWE values were observed within the study area of the hillslope (Table 5), where values ranged from 15-16.78cm, and higher values generally occurred in areas of topographic convergence (Figure 4b). Rapid snowmelt began on March 24<sup>th</sup>, 2014, and by April 18<sup>th</sup>, the snowpack had completely melted (Figure 5a). The average daily melt intensity was 0.51cm. Following the snowmelt period, additional hydrologic input occurred as rain on 28 separate days between April 18th and September 19th (the day the period of record ends) for a cumulative total of 193mm. Large rainstorms occurred during the periods of June 17<sup>th</sup> – 19<sup>th</sup>, August 14<sup>th</sup> – 16<sup>th</sup>, and August 21<sup>st</sup> – 24<sup>th</sup>, delivering precipitation totals of 35.6mm, 40.6mm, and 38.1mm, respectively.

#### 3.2 Landscape and Spatial Analysis

UAA increased in a downslope direction, with the largest areas of UAA occurring in convergent areas towards the base of the hillslope. (Table 6) (Figure 4a). Wells 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8 show a clear progression of greater UAA towards the base of the hillslope, near well 8. Wells 6 and 7 have comparatively lower UAA, as they are located on steep side slopes of the gulley which contribute rather than receive lateral flow from the convergent area.

Ksat values ranged from 0.15 to >20cm/hour across the hillslope, with a standard deviation of 7.59cm/hour (Table 7). The overall spatial pattern of Ksat across the hillslope was highly spatially heterogeneous, with two areas of high conductivity

occurring along the side slopes of the gulley, and other high Ksat values being dispersed throughout the study area. Wells 1, 4, and 5 were located in areas of high conductivity, whereas wells 2, 3, 6, 7, and 8 had noticeably lower conductivity values at well locations. In particular, the area surrounding wells 6, 7, and 8 had an overall pattern of low conductivity, with no high Ksat values recorded in that area (Figure 4c).

Depth-to-bedrock measurements ranged from 61.5cm to >137cm with a standard deviation of 19.83cm (Table 8). The largest soil depths were recorded in the convergent gulley near wells 1 and 2. Overall soil depth appeared to be a function of landscape position. Soil depth was the lowest in the south-east corner of the hillslope near the Cap Wallace Road, with a transition towards greater soil depths occurring in and at the bottom of the gulley (Figure 4d).

To determine the degree of spatial autocorrelation within the SWE, Ksat, and soil depth datasets, I used the Spatial Autocorrelation tool within ArcGIS 10.1 to calculate Moran's I. I used inverse distance as conceptualization of spatial relationships and the Euclidean distance method since these were the most appropriate choice for continuous data. The default neighborhood search threshold was the distance to include two adjacent neighboring observations – 30 meters for Ksat and soil depth, and 60m for SWE. Moran's I values were 0.034 for SWE, 0.030 for Ksat, and 0.012 for soil depth (Table 9). These values indicate that at these resolutions of measurement, these variables do not appear to exhibit significant spatial autocorrelation.

#### 3.3 Hillslope Water Table Dynamics

In order to quantify hillslope water table responses, I analyzed the data collected from the TruTrack data loggers (Figure 5a). Groundwater responses were never observed at two of the eight groundwater monitoring wells during the period of record; well 3, located on a side slope near the top of the study area, and well 4, located in the middle at the gulley, did not record any water table development. The reason for this lack of measured groundwater response is likely due to the fact that these wells were difficult to complete to bedrock, and often required multiple attempts to install each well. Large rocky debris is present towards the bottom of the soil profile, and it is possible that wells

3 and 4 were installed on top of large rocks, effectively raising the completed depth to above the maximum water table extent at that location. While six of the eight wells have a complete period of record, wells 6 and 7 did not record water table data between the dates of May 21<sup>st</sup> and August 1<sup>st</sup>, 2014 due to equipment malfunction.

I observed a range of well dynamics from transient to more persistent depending upon the landscape position across the hillslope (Figure 5a,b). The duration of groundwater response increased in areas with a larger upslope accumulated area. For wells 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, and 8, water tables tended to develop extremely rapidly, usually transitioning from absence of water to maximum height within only a few hours. Once present, water dissipated quickly (hourly scale) in most wells, with well 2 (high side slope) and well 8 (downslope in hollow) displaying a more gradual water level drawdown over a period of weeks. While not all wells wet up during each event, four main hillslope responses are evident within the time series. In March, five wells (1, 2, 5, 6, 8) displayed a presence of water, with the largest response recorded in well 8 near the bottom of the gulley. All six wells recorded extremely-quickly developing water tables in mid-April corresponding with rapid snowmelt. Heavy precipitation events in June and August both produced well responses from wells 1, 2, and 8.

#### **3.4 Non-local Controls on the Duration of Saturation**

To examine the relationship between the duration of well saturation and total upslope area, I compared UAA to the cumulative duration of saturation. I found a significant exponential relationship ( $R^2$ =0.67, p=0.047) between UAA and the cumulative duration of saturation within the water table monitoring wells (Figure 6). Total cumulative duration of saturation ranged from 263.5 hours at well 7, which is located on a small sideslope, to 1888.5 hours at well 8, located at the bottom of the hillslope in the center of the gulley. Generally, wells located towards the bottom of the hillslope and in convergent areas with higher UAA had greater cumulative duration of saturation.

# 3.5 Local Soil Characteristics Modulate Topographic Controls on Water Table Dynamics

To better understand the effect of local soil characteristics on the relationship between UAA and cumulative duration of saturation, I compared local mean Ksat to the residuals from the analysis of UAA versus cumulative duration of saturation. Local mean Ksat was a strong predictor ( $R^2$ =0.77, p=0.034) for explaining the variance from the expected duration of saturation (Figure 7). Wells with higher local Ksat had less duration of saturation than expected, and wells with lower local Ksat had longer periods of saturation than predicted based solely upon UAA.

In order to assay the relationship between water table magnitude and variability, I compared water table height values to interpolated Ksat values at well locations. Figure 8 shows all recorded non-zero water table height values for the period of record plotted as boxplots. There is weak evidence ( $R^2$ =0.57, p=0.082) that wells with lower Ksat values have larger variability in water table heights, and higher overall mean water table heights. Including all zero values for water table height within the dataset results in moderately strong evidence ( $R^2$ =0.80, p=0.017) that median water table heights are lower for areas with higher Ksat values at well locations (Figure 9).

# 3.6 Local Spatial Patterns of Ksat May Affect Hydrologic Connectivity between Wells

I investigated the controls on the spatial variability of hydrologic connectivity between adjacent landscape positions by quantifying the cumulative duration of concurrent saturation between adjacent hillslope wells. Of the upslope-downslope well locations where at least one well responded (wells 2, 5, 6, 7, 8), four pairs of wells recorded concurrent saturation in both upslope and downslope positions (wells 1&2, 5&6, 5&7, as well as 5&8) (Figure 10). The smallest duration of connectivity was between wells 4&5 (0 hours). The largest duration of connectivity was at the bottom of the convergent gulley, between wells 5&8 (850.5 hours). Of these 5 pairs, local mean Ksat served as a predictor variable (R<sup>2</sup>=0.68, p=0.085) for the cumulative duration of hydrologic connectivity with the upslope well, with an exponentially decreasing relationship; areas

with larger mean Ksat values had overall lower durations of hydrologic connectivity to upslope positions.

# 3.7 Initiation of Well Saturation as a Function of Antecedent Wetness and Variability in Bedrock

In order to determine if contributing areas with larger proportions of high Ksat soils require higher antecedent moisture thresholds for water table development, I compared the derived API for the calendar day each well recorded water table development with interpolated Ksat values at well locations (Figure 11). Since some small snowmelt events began before all the data loggers were installed, and wells 6 and 7 were not recording data during June precipitation events, I chose to utilize the well responses driven by large August precipitation events (where a full data set exists) to analyze this relationship. I observed a positive trend (Figure 11) that would suggest that higher Ksat values at well locations may result in higher API values at wet up; however, since only 4 wells responded, this relationship is not significant enough to make any strong claims as to whether Ksat is a clear predictor variable for this relationship ( $R^2$ =0.5686, p=0.25).

To examine the relationship between antecedent moisture thresholds for water table development and variability of bedrock topography, I compared the derived API for the calendar day each well recorded water table development with the standard deviation for the interpolated soil depths within each well's local contributing area (Figure 12). I observe a strong positive linear trend (R<sup>2</sup>=0.922, p=0.04) indicating that areas with more variability in bedrock topography required higher antecedent wetness conditions for water table development. Wells 7 and 8, with highly planar bedrock topography within the local contributing area (standard deviations of 2.1 and 1.5cm, respectively) required low antecedent moisture conditions for water table development (API=4.3cm). Alternatively, wells with significant variability in bedrock depth, such as wells 1 and 2 (standard deviations of 5.8 and 8cm, respectively) required a significant amount of soil moisture for water table development to occur (API=5.5cm).

#### **Chapter 4: Discussion**

# 4.1 Do Local Soil Patterns of Ksat Modulate Upslope Topographic Controls on the Duration and Magnitude of Soil Saturation?

My results confirm that nonlocal topographic controls are a first order control on the duration of soil saturation for the study hillslope; a significant exponential relationship (p=0.047) exists between the cumulative duration of saturation and hillslope UAA (Figure 6). These results are consistent with previous hillslope hydrology studies that discovered a relationship between nonlocal topographic controls and subsequent hillslope water table response within the Tenderfoot Creek Experimental Forest, MT (Grabs, Seibert, Jencso, and McGlynn, 2009; Jencso *et al.*, 2009; Jencso and McGlynn, 2011; Pacific, McGlynn, Riveros-Iregui, Welsh, and Epstein, 2011), and within Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest, NH (Detty and McGuire, 2010). When considered in the context of previous studies, these highly similar results from the Lubrecht Experimental Forest suggest the presence of transferrable nonlocal controls on the duration of soil saturation that have now been observed in multiple catchments with diverse ecological settings and climatic regimes. Further, the work presented here builds upon previous studies on this topic that have not considered the potential effects of soil attributes on plot-scale water table magnitude, duration, and connectivity.

While non-local topography has a clear signature in the cumulative duration of water table development, research has also shown the importance of local soil characteristics, specifically hydraulic conductivity, on water table development (Smith *et al.*, 2013), and runoff generation (Niehoff, Fritsch, and Bronstert, 2002). My study reveals that while there exists a significant exponential relationship between duration of saturation and UAA, variance from the predicted relationship may be further explained by examining local patterns of Ksat. Wells with high local mean Ksat values, such as wells 5 and 7, exhibited less cumulative duration of saturation than the predictive model suggests. Conversely, wells with lower mean Ksat values, such as wells 1, 6 and 8, tended to display longer cumulative duration values than the predictive model suggests. Hydraulic conductivity is defined "the rate at which water moves through a porous medium under a unit potential-energy gradient" (Dingman, 2002), thus, areas with larger local mean

Ksat values are able to transmit water downhill more rapidly, resulting in a faster transition from a state of saturation to non-saturation.

This study both supports and builds upon previous arguments emphasizing the importance of characterizing spatial patterns of Ksat in studies which attempt to elucidate hillslope flow behavior; for example, in their 1978 study in Somerset, England, Anderson and Burt utilized measurements of key soil parameters, including field-state hydraulic conductivity, and showed that accurate determinations of hydraulic conductivity over different types of hillslope topography were essential to a more complete understanding of hillslope throughflow processes and hillslope-channel hydrology relationships. Further, these authors demonstrated that "the consequences of ignoring hydrologic conductivity in such investigations can lead to markedly inaccurate process inference". Similarly, in this study, I discovered that saturated hydraulic conductivity was critical in modulating upslope topographic controls; although total upslope area was a first-order control on the cumulative amount of time landscape positions were saturated, local patterns of Ksat were a significant explanatory variable for deviation from the predicted relationship for UAA versus duration of saturation (Figure 7). These results demonstrate that hydraulic conductivity is an important control for local and hillslope scale hydrologic processes.

In addition to local soil hydraulic characteristics influencing the duration of saturation, this study also identifies local patterns of Ksat as influential to both the variability and magnitude of local water table development. Wells located in areas with high Ksat values displayed less variability in water table heights over time, and lower overall magnitudes of saturation (Figure 8). The median water table height for all wells which recorded a groundwater response also showed an exponentially decaying relationship as a function of Ksat at the well location (Figure 9). I hypothesize that this relationship is due to the fact that as local hydraulic conductivity increases, so too does the rate at which the soils are able to transmit water downslope. With higher hydraulic conductivity values, we expect these areas to transmit and disperse water very quickly, resulting in less water accumulating in these areas. Other studies have also identified larger magnitudes of water table variability in areas of higher hydraulic conductivity. For

example, Whittington and Price (2006) in their study Canada also discovered water table fluctuations to be highly controlled by the local hydraulic conductivity, with areas of lower hydraulic conductivity resulting in increased water table fluctuations.

These results support the hypothesis that local patterns of soil hydraulic properties modulate upslope topographic controls on the duration and magnitude of water table responses and have interesting broader implications. While modeling efforts, such as TOPMODEL (Beven and Kirkby, 1979) have had some success in predicting patterns of saturation in different studies (*e.g.* Ambroise, Bevan, and Freer, 1996; Pinol, Bevan, and Freer, 1997), it was noted that "the use of spatial data in model calibration and confirmation is not straightforward", and "how to do this should be the subject of future work (Bevan, 1997). While significant advances have since been made regarding model sophistication, such as accounting for differences in vertical Ksat (Rupp and Selker, 2005 & 2006), recent research has identified that there is still a need to account for spatial and areal differences in the different vertical distributions of Ksat (Fu, Chen, Zhang, Nie, and Wang, 2015).

The results from this study provide novel insight into how non-local controls are modulated by local patterns of soil hydraulic properties, and highlight the importance for future studies to consider local controls on the movement of water through the soil profile for physically-based hillslope scale studies and modelling efforts.

### 4.2 Do Well Contributing Areas with Greater Ksat Values Have Decreased Connectivity to Upslope Well Positions Relative to Those with Low Ksat?

UAA has been identified as an important control on hillslope hydrologic connectivity (Jencso *et al.*, 2009; Jencso and McGlynn, 2011); however, I found that local controls also affect the dynamics of hillslope water table development. The results from this study indicate that water table connectivity between adjacent landscape positions may exponentially decrease as a function of higher local median Ksat; however, these results are not as statistically significant as was predicted (Figure 10; p=0.085). Since two of the eight wells did not record water table development, this analysis is limited to five data points (wells 2, 5, 6, 7, and 8). The three wells that recorded the highest

connectivity with upslope wells (wells 2, 6, and 8, all connected to upslope landscape positions for greater than 350 hours) were highly variable in space and associated UAA, which may suggest that, for this relatively small study plot, local spatial patterns of soil characteristics are a stronger predictor variable than UAA for hydrologic connectivity. Although it was assumed that concurrent saturation at adjacent wells indicated a connected groundwater table between the two locations, an alternative explanation for these results is that we are not observing a spatially continuous groundwater layer between wells, but rather isolated zones of saturation; previous research has noted that for small semiarid basins with shallow soils, the saturated zone can exist as a series of disconnected or only partially connected zones of saturation of limited spatial extent (Maneta, Schnabel and Jetten, 2008; Van Schaik, 2010).

When determining the implication of these results, another important consideration is the relatively small size of the study hillslope. This research study was conducted on a small hillslope study plot of 6,700m<sup>2</sup>. Research has shown that the duration of hydrologic connectivity increases with larger values of UAA (Jencso *et al.,* 2009; Jencso and McGlynn 2011; Jencso and McGlynn, in review); these studies found significant relationships when considering hillslopes with UAA values spanning a broader range from 600m<sup>2</sup> to 50,000m<sup>2</sup>, a maximum area almost an order of magnitude larger than the study plot considered in this research. In essence, while the scale of this project does not enable us to obtain a macroscopic perspective on the hillslope scale hydrologic processes at work, it does allow for a detailed analysis of local controls at the plot scale.

# 4.3 Do Well Contributing Areas with Larger Proportions of High Ksat Soils and Those with More Variability in Bedrock Topography Have a Higher Antecedent Moisture Threshold for Water Table Development?

Four hillslope wells responded to large August precipitation events (wells 1, 2, 7, and 8). While I initially hypothesized that well contributing areas with larger proportions of high Ksat soils require higher antecedent moisture thresholds for water table development, I did not observe a significant relationship (p=0.25) between the API required for well response and the Ksat at the well location (Figure 11). There was, however, a trend

suggesting that wells with higher Ksat values may require higher antecedent wetness values in order for wells to respond. This indicates that as antecedent wetness values increase and the soil profile nears saturation, areas with relatively higher Ksat values will more rapidly disperse water from the near-saturated areas, subsequently requiring relatively more hydrologic input in comparison with low Ksat areas to achieve saturation. This is supported by Grayson *et al.*, (1997), who describe a dry state where soils are not fully saturated, in which state local controls (*i.e.* local patterns of Ksat) and vertical fluxes are the dominate drivers of hydrologic redistribution. All of this considered together indicates that more research is needed in this area in order to determine the complex, dynamic relationship between local patterns of Ksat and antecedent moisture thresholds for water table development. Future researchers should pay especial attention to the work of Haga *et al.*, (2005) who suggest that rainfall amount and intensity may also be critical factors in rainfall-runoff response lag times and subsurface water movement above the soil-bedrock interface.

I observed a significant linear relationship (p=0.04) between the API at the time the wells responded and variability in the bedrock profile. Wells with highly planar bedrock topography within the local contributing area required low antecedent moisture conditions for water table development in comparison to wells with significant bedrock variability. Areas with high variability in bedrock topography suggest the presence of bedrock depressions in which water will collect until the depth of water accumulated on the bedrock surface exceeds the depth of the bedrock depression, at which point the water will overflow the depression and drain downslope, creating a "fill and spill" process described by Tromp van-Meerveld and McDonnell (2006c). I propose that this "fill and spill" process explains the observation that well contributing areas with greater variability in bedrock topography required higher antecedent moisture thresholds for water table development relative to those with less variability in bedrock topography

In order to fully understand these results, however, we must orient them in the context of watershed scale and the literature describing the relationship between antecedent moisture thresholds and bedrock topography. According to Freer *et al.*, (2002) who analyzed this process on a 20x48m trenched hillslope in the Panola Mountain Research

Watershed in Georgia, the bedrock surface was important for spatial dynamics of hillslope wetting, water table development, and generation of lateral flow. Similarly, Weiler and McDonnell (2004) incorporated soil depth variability into a numerical model of subsurface flow for the Panola hillslope and identified depth-to-bedrock variability as a dominate control on both the spatial variation of subsurface flow and the total subsurface flow volume produced. Taken together with our research results, this indicates that bedrock topography is an important physical parameter of interest when investigating antecedent moisture thresholds required for subsurface flow generation at the hillslope scale. At the very least, more research is needed on the topic of watershed scale and its relationship to antecedent moisture thresholds for water table development and bedrock topography.

#### 4.4 Conceptual Model of Hillslope Flow Processes

This study contributes to our understanding of local versus nonlocal controls on hillslope shallow water table behavior. Through increasing our knowledge of how the spatial organization of local soil characteristics and hydraulic properties lead to emergent patterns of hillslope scale hydrologic connectivity and modulate upslope topographic controls, we gain novel insight into how local processes affect hillslope scale water table response. For example, this study demonstrated that while nonlocal controls such as UAA serve as primary controls on the hillslope scale water table dynamics, local physical and soil characteristics such as Ksat and bedrock topography further impact local water table dynamics across hillslopes. Finally, if we orient these local controls into a larger picture of wetness states, runoff, and streamflow we see that at different moisture states, both local and nonlocal controls may have potentially significant impacts on the timing of subsurface runoff to streams.

During times when the hillslope maintains low levels of soil moisture and the hillslope is in a dry state, local soil characteristics and bedrock topography play an especially important role (Figure 13a). Since soils are not fully saturated, the subsurface flow regime is dominated by vertical flows, and landscape positions are hydrologically disconnected. With rates of evapotranspiration which exceed those of precipitation, soil

moisture decreases across the hillslope, and landscape positions become hydrologically disconnected. We would not expect to see significant lateral flow until a transition in the hillslope moisture state occurs.

This transition in moisture state is often driven by snowmelt or large precipitation events which will dramatically increase soil moisture content across the watershed. As antecedent moisture increases, further precipitation inputs result in a wet watershed state where soils are near-saturated, and non-local controls are the primary driver for the downslope routing of water as landscapes positions become more hydrologically connected (Figure 13b). Further, as soil becomes saturated, the variability of bedrock topography will play a role in the timing of the delivery of water to streams, with bedrock depressions requiring time to reach capacity and overflow. Although local soil hydraulic properties and bedrock topography are not first-order controls on the timing of the subsurface through flow at this moisture state, they modulate upslope topographic controls, further affecting the timing, and possibly preferential flow routes, of water being delivered downslope to streams (Figure 14).

#### 4.5 Opportunities for Future Research

This study utilized eight shallow groundwater monitoring wells that were installed across a single hillslope. Of these eight wells, six recorded the presence of water table development. In addition, two wells temporarily experienced equipment malfunction during the observation period. While this study provides interesting preliminary insight into how local soil attributes affect temporal and spatial patterns of groundwater development, this study had a small sample size of six spatial observations of groundwater development. This may have impacted our ability to accurately determine initiation of well saturation as a function of antecedent wetness and variability in bedrock. Future studies should work to incorporate more water table monitoring wells, and in doing so may provide a more complete picture of the interactions between shallow water table dynamics and local soil attributes.

This study examined water table development, including hydrologic connectivity, on one hillslope with a relatively small slope contributing area. Previous research has shown

that the duration of hydrologic connectivity increases with larger upslope contributing areas (Jencso *et al.*, 2009; Jencso and McGlynn 2011; Jencso and McGlynn, in review). By employing similar techniques utilized in this study across several hillslopes with larger and varying upslope contributing areas, researchers could gain additional insight into complex interplay between topography and local soil characteristics, and the resulting effect on hillslope water table development and water table connectivity.

In addition, this study normalized the depth of Ksat measurements, relying on one measurement at a normalized depth for each measurement location. However, previous research has discovered that effective Ksat is a function of depth (e.g. Kendall, Shanley, and McDonnell, 1999; Brooks, Boll, and McDaniel, 2004), and previous studies have improved their analyses by making multiple measurements at different depths (e.g. Smith *et al.*, 2013). Measuring at only one point in the soil profile may give an intermediate value, based on patterns of conductivity above and below the sample point.

I measured Ksat values in the E horizon which was the most hydrologically relevant location in the soil column for lateral flow development; however, previous studies have shown that Ksat measurements are highly spatially variable (e.g. Nielsen, Biggar, and Erh, 1973; Bjerg, Hinsby, Christensen, and Gravesen, 1992; Logsdon and Jaynes, 1996; Sobieraj, Elsenbeer, Coelho, and Newton, 2002; Deb and Shukla, 2012), and also highly sensitive to measurement error and the uncertainties associated with the measurement technique utilized (Sherlock, Chappel and McDonnell, 2000). This suggests that outside of a highly controlled experimental environment, point measurements of Ksat may not be the most reliable indicator of soil conductivity properties at the watershed scale. The Ksat values obtained in this research project affirm and build upon these previous results; while they are highly spatially heterogeneous and do not generalize across the entire study area, they do provide insight into local soil controls on the overall magnitude and variability of water table development, duration of hydrologic connectivity with upslope well locations, and variance in the relationship between upslope accumulated area and cumulative duration of saturation within landscape positions.

#### 4.6 Implications

The results obtained from this study suggest that incorporating measurements of local soil characteristics and bedrock topography can provide insight into many larger patterns and processes – for example, spatial patterns of water table magnitude, variability, extent, duration, and connectivity. Previous research has shown that hillslope hydrologic connectivity can affect a range of ecological processes, including downslope nutrient transport, carbon/nitrogen cycling, and biological productivity (Stieglitz et al., 2003). Thus, the findings presented here are an important consideration in the context of snowmelt and precipitation-driven water table model development at the hillslope scale, as understanding hillslope processes is critical for scientists and land managers; these processes will affect the timing and magnitude of runoff, and also have implications for the downslope delivery of nutrients to streams. For example, Ocampo, Silvapalan, and Oldham (2006) demonstrated that for their study hillslope in Western Australia, hillslope hydrological connectivity not only resulted in the downslope delivery of fresh water, but was a critical factor in transporting nitrates that had previously accumulated in the upslope zone. It logically follows that given a state where water tables are continuous and connected across a hillslope, rates of hydraulic conductivity will affect the rates of nutrient transport or retention. Previous studies have confirmed this relationship (Morrice, Valett, Dahm, and Campana, 1997; Butturini et al., 2003). Thus, this hydrological effect on nutrient dispersal is critical for the growth of aquatic vegetation and faunal species, and understanding more about the relationship between hillslope form and process, runoff, and available nutrients is critical to the appropriate management of waterways in mountainous ecosystems.

Furthermore this study has implications for current research in the field of terrestrial biology and ecological restoration. This study was conducted on a hillslope which was recently harvested; as such, this study provides important insights into the dynamics of subsurface runoff in areas that have been cleared of large vegetation. This study might thus provide a foundation for future research that examines the role of groundwater development and stream flow in the processes of forest regrowth.

#### 4.7 Summary

My study examined the roles of spatial patterns in topography, hydraulic conductivity, and bedrock topography on local and hillslope scale shallow water table dynamics. By gathering *in-situ* measurements of Ksat, I further explain variance in the relationship between upslope area and duration of saturation within landscape positions. By comparing water table connectivity to local patterns of Ksat, I address how local controls affect the dynamics of hillslope water table developments. Finally, by utilizing data which identify the spatial patterns of Ksat and the variability in bedrock topography, this study evaluates the effects of local soil characteristics on water table development. Together, these approaches help further our understanding of how local slope soil characteristics may modulate upslope topographic controls on shallow water table development, and subsequent hydrologic connectivity at the hillslope scale.

#### **Chapter 5: Conclusion**

I measured water table development at eight locations at 30 minute intervals for 193 days between March 4<sup>th</sup> and September 12<sup>th</sup>, 2014 across a 6,700m<sup>2</sup> hillslope in Lubrecht Experimental Forest, Montana. I combined spatiotemporal measurements of seasonal water table development with climatic records for the area and *in situ* measurements of the spatial patterns of SWE, Ksat, and depth-to-bedrock across the hillslope to evaluate how local soil hydraulic properties and bedrock topography modulate hillslope-scale controls on shallow water table development and hydrologic connectivity across the hillslope. This analysis revealed explanatory variables which helped us to predict spatial and temporal water table dynamics, including cumulative duration of saturation, water table variability, overall water table magnitudes, and the effects of bedrock topography. My results and analyses provide new and preliminary insights into how hillslope water table dynamics are affected by both hillslope and local patterns of topography, soil characteristics, and bedrock topography.

On the basis of my analysis, I conclude:

- 1. Upslope accumulated area is a first-order control on the cumulative duration of saturation for landscape positions.
- 2. The mean Ksat of local contributing areas is a strong predictor for variance in the relationship between upslope accumulated area and cumulative duration of saturation within landscape positions.
- 3. The Ksat at the water table monitoring well locations is a strong predictor for both the overall magnitude and variability of water table development.
- 4. The mean Ksat of local contributing areas is a strong predictor for duration of hydrologic connectivity with upslope well locations.
- More research is required at this site to determine the complex, dynamic relationship between local patterns of Ksat and antecedent moisture thresholds required for water table development.
- 6. Higher variability in bedrock topography is correlated with larger antecedent moisture thresholds required for water table development.

This study advances the science of hydrology by addressing previously unresolved questions regarding the relative roles of spatial patterns in topography, hydraulic conductivity and soil depth on local and hillslope scale shallow water table dynamics. A better understanding of these local and nonlocal processes and their effect on hillslope throughflow may contribute to the development of better conceptual and predictive models regarding how soil characteristics affect the timing and magnitude of hydrologic response within hillslopes, and subsequent streamflow generation.

### **Tables and Figures**

SWE	RMSE (cm)	R <sup>2</sup>
20m	33.06	0.1151
10m	3.1755	0.1167
5m	3.1783	0.1151
2m	3.1753	0.1168
1m	3.1778	0.0091

Table 1. RMSE and coefficient of correlation for SWE interpolation resolution.

Table 2. RMSE and coefficient of correlation for Ksat interpolation resolution.

Ksat	RMSE (cm/hr)	R <sup>2</sup>
10m	3.673	0.8127
5m	2.38	0.9478
2m	1.53	0.9859
1m	1.28	0.9915

Table 3. RMSE and coefficient of correlation for soil depth interpolation resolution.

Soil Depth	RMSE (cm)	R <sup>2</sup>
10m	18.933	0.0952
5m	18.6516	0.1233
2m	18.7746	0.1118
1m	18.6553	0.1243

Table 4. Summary statistics for SWE measurements across the entire study hillslope, including uphill of study area.

n	Min (cm)	Max (cm)	Mean (cm)	Median (cm)	Std dev. (cm)	Skewness	Kurtosis
103	0	30.74	16.285	16.59	3.7463	-0.40194	6.8991

n	Min (cm)	Max (cm)	Mean (cm)	Median (cm)	Std dev. (cm)	Skewness	Kurtosis
19	15	16.78	16.285	16.0	3.7463	-0.18854	2.3334
Tak	ale 6 Unsl		lated area val	ues for each w	ماا		
Tat	ne o. opsi	ope accumu	lateu alea val		en.		
Wel		1 2	3	4	5 6	7	8
UAA	A (m²)	2200 27	737 3194	4288	5737 21	9 154	6834

Table 5. Summary statistics for SWE measurements within the study area.

Table 7. Descriptive statistics for saturated hydraulic conductivity measurements. All Ksat measurement units are in units of cm/hr.

	Study	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
	Area								
n	82	22	7	4	8	17	2	2	7
Minimum	0.151	0.432	1.267	1.173	0.951	0.778	1.51	2.86	1.247
Maximum	20	20	20	3.459	20	20	3.968	20	20
Mean	6.387	5.277	8.689	2.30	6.753	9.785	2.739	11.435	4.73
Median	9.525	1.624	5.20	2.285	2.903	3.675	2.739	11.435	1.907
Std. Dev.	7.588	6.636	7.958	0.899	7.255	8.662	1.123	8.575	6.313
Well Ksat		11.04	4.77	4.03	15.62	9.39	2.01	3.35	1.30

	Study	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
	Area								
n	84	22	7	4	9	17	2	2	7
Minimum	61.5	69	93.2	61.5	65.9	81.5	103	111	66.5
Maximum	137	137	135	125	130	130	115	120	130
Mean	108.613	111.732	111.2	96	102.189	110.324	109	115.5	99.529
Median	111	123	109	98.75	102	109	109	115.5	117
Std. Dev.	19.829	20.723	14.134	24.22	20.547	15.014	6	4.5	25.994
Depth at		116.451	116.657	112.448	113.92	110.918	108.712	108.787	107.964
Well									

Table 8. Descriptive statistics for depth-to-bedrock measurements. All depth measurements are in units of cm.

Table 9. Spatial autocorrelation report of Moran's Index and corresponding z-score and p-values for measured variables.

	Moran's I	z-score	p-value
SWE	0.034171	1.388951	0.164848
Ksat	0.029566	1.222756	0.221422
Soil Depth	0.012114	0.727710	0.466791







Figure 2. Map of study area illustrating water table monitoring wells and measurement locations for bedrock depth and saturated hydraulic conductivity.



Figure 3. Schematic diagram of the Compact Constant Head Permeameter (Amoozegar, n.d.)



Figure 4. Upslope accumulated area (a), spatial distributions of snow water equivalent (b), saturated hydraulic conductivity (c), and soil depth (d).







Figure 6. Cumulative duration of saturation as a function of upslope accumulated area. Data points above the line indicate more cumulative saturation than expected by the model, and data points below the line indicate less cumulative saturation than expected.



Figure 7. Local mean Ksat plotted as an explanatory variable for the residuals from the previous regression of UAA vs cumulative duration of saturation for each well.



Figure 8. Boxplots of water table height values during periods of saturation as a function of Ksat at each well location. Outliers have been removed to enhance visual clarity. Solid horizontal lines represent median water table height values, and dashed lines represent mean water table height values.



Figure 9. Median water table height for the period of record as a function of Ksat at well locations. Error bars represent standard error.



Figure 10. Hydrologic connectivity as a function of local median Ksat. Error bars represent standard error.



Figure 11. The API on the day each well recorded the presence of water following August precipitation events as a function of the Ksat value at the well location. Error bars represent standard error.



Figure 12. The API on the day each well recorded the presence of water following August precipitation events as a function of the variability of bedrock topography within the local contributing area. Error bars represent standard error.



Figure 13. Conceptual diagram of hillslope moisture states. During dry states (a), the subsurface flow regime is dominated by vertical flows, and landscape positions are disconnected. As snowmelt and/or precipitation drive the transition to a wet state bedrock depression, thus increasing the required moisture thresholds for water table development and downslope expansion. where soils are near-saturated (b), non-local controls are the primary driver for the downslope routing of water to streams; topography force water to collect until the depth of water accumulated on the bedrock surface exceeds the depth of the however, local soil characteristics also work to influence shallow water table dynamics. Areas with variable bedrock



Figure 14. Conceptual framework of influences on flow processes. Nonlocal controls such as topography and total upslope area serve as primary controls on hillslope scale water table dynamics. Local physical and soil characteristics such as hydraulic conductivity and soil depth further impact local water table dynamics across hillslopes.

#### References

- Almasi, A., Jalalian, A., and Toomanian, N. (2014). Using OK and IDW methods for predicting the spatial variability of A horizon depth and OM in soils of Shahrekord, Iran. *Journal of Environmental and Earth Science, 4(15)*.
- Ambroise, B., Beven, K., and Freer, J. (1996). Toward a generalization of the TOPMODEL concepts: Topographic indices of hydrological similarity. *Water Resources Research*, 32(7), 2135-2145.
- Amoozegar, A. (n.d.). Compact Constant Head Permeameter: User's Manual. Ksat, Inc. Raleigh, North Carolina.
- Amoozegar, A. (1989a). A compact constant-head permeameter for measuring saturated hydraulic conductivity of the vadose zone. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *53*(5), 1356-1361.
- Amoozegar, A. (1989b). Comparison of the Glover solution with the simultaneousequations approach for measuring hydraulic conductivity. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 53(5), 1362-1367.
- Amoozegar, A. (1992). Compact Constant Head Permeameter: A convenient device for measuring hydraulic conductivity. *Advances in measurement of soil physical properties: Bringing theory into practice.* 31-42.
- Anderson, M. G., and Burt, T. P. (1978). The role of topography in controlling throughflow generation. *Earth Surface Processes*, *3*(4), 331-344.
- Beven, K. (1997). TOPMODEL: a critique. *Hydrological Processes*, *11*(9), 1069-1085.
- Bevan, K.J., and Kirkby, M.J. (1979). A physically based, variable contributing area model of basin hydrology. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, *24(1)*, 43-69.
- Bjerg, P. L., Hinsby, K., Christensen, T. H., and Gravesen, P. (1992). Spatial variability of hydraulic conductivity of an unconfined sandy aquifer determined by a mini slug test. *Journal of Hydrology*, *136*(1), 107-122.
- Brooks, E. S., Boll, J., and McDaniel, P. A. (2004). A hillslope-scale experiment to measure lateral saturated hydraulic conductivity. *Water Resources Research*, *40*(4).

Bracken, L.J., and Crocke, J. (2007). The concept of hydrological connectivity and its

contribution to understanding runoff-dominated geomorphic systems. *Hydrological Processes, 21(13),* 1749-1763.

- Butturini, A., Bernal, S., Hellin, C., Nin, E., Rivero, L., Sabater, S., and Sabater, F. (2003). Influences of the stream groundwater hydrology on nitrate concentration in unsaturated riparian area bounded by an intermittent Mediterranean stream. *Water Resources Research*, *39*(4).
- Caroll, S.S., Carroll, T.R., and Poston, R.W. (1999). Spatial modeling and prediction of snow-water equivalent using ground-based, airborne, and satellite snow data. *Journal of Geophyiscal Research*, *104*(*16*), *623-629*.
- Ceballos, A., and Schnabel, S. (1998). Hydrological behaviour of a small catchment in the dehesa landuse system (Extremadura, SW Spain). *Journal of Hydrology*, *210*(1), 146-160.
- College of Forestry and Conservation (no date). Lubrecht Experimental Forest History and Origin. *College of Forestry and Conservation*. Website. Retrieved January 30, 2014, from http://www.cfc.umt.edu/Lubrecht/History.php
- Deb, S. K., and Shukla, M. K. (2012). Variability of hydraulic conductivity due to multiple factors. *American Journal of Environmental Sciences*, *8*(5), 489.
- Detty, J.M. and McGuire, K.J. (2010). Topographic controls on shallow groundwater dynamics: implications of hydrologic connectivity between hillslopes and riparian zones in a till mantled catchment. *Hydrological Processes, 24,* 2222-2236.
- Dingman, S. L. (2015). Physical hydrology. Waveland press.
- Fitzjohn, C., Ternan, J. L., and Williams, A. G. (1998). Soil moisture variability in a semiarid gully catchment: implications for runoff and erosion control. *Catena*, *32*(1), 55-70.
- Freer, J., McDonnell, J. J., Beven, K. J., Peters, N. E., Burns, D. A., Hooper, R. P., and Kendall, C. (2002). The role of bedrock topography on subsurface storm flow. *Water Resources Research*, *38*(12), 5-1.

Freeze, R.A. (1974). Streamflow generation. Reviews of Geophysics 12(4), 627-647.

Fu, T., Chen, H., Zhang, W., Nie, Y., and Wang, K. (2015). Vertical distribution of soil saturated hydraulic conductivity and its influencing factors in a small karst catchment in Southwest China. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 187(3), 1-13.

- Gallichand, J., Prasher, S. O., Broughton, R. S., and Marcotte, D. (1991). Kriging of hydraulic conductivity for subsurface drainage design. *Journal of irrigation and drainage engineering*, *117*(5), 667-681.
- Godsey, S., Elsenbeer, H., and Stallard, R. (2004). Overland flow generation in two lithologically distinct rainforest catchments. *Journal of Hydrology, 295(1),* 276-290.
- Grabs, T., Seibert, J., Jencso, K., and McGlynn, B. (2008). Distributed assessment of contributing area and riparian buffering along stream networks: a new approach to separate contributions from different sides. *Proceedings of Geomorphology*, 38-43.
- Graham, C.B., Woods, R.A., and McDonnell, J.J. (2010). Hillslope threshold response to rainfall:(1) A field based forensic approach. *Journal of Hydrology, 393(1),* 65-76.
- Grayson, R. B., Western, A. W., Chiew, F. H., and Blöschl, G. (1997). Preferred states in spatial soil moisture patterns: Local and nonlocal controls. *Water Resources Research*, 33(12), 2897-2908.
- Haga, H., Matsumoto, Y., Matsutani, J., Fujita, M., Nishida, K., and Sakamoto, Y. (2005). Flow paths, rainfall properties, and antecedent soil moisture controlling lags to peak discharge in a granitic unchanneled catchment. *Water Resources Research*, *41*(12).
- Hewlet, J.D and Hibbert, A.R. (1967). Factors affecting the response of small watersheds to precipitation in humid areas. *Forest Hydrology*, 275-290.
- Horton, R.E. (1933). The role of infiltration in the hydrologic cycle. *Transactions, American Geophysical Union, 14,* 446-460.
- Hosseini, E., Gallichand, J., and Caron., J. (1993). Comparison of several interpolators for smoothing hydraulic conductivity data in south-west Iran. *Transactions of American Society of Agricultural Engineers*, *36(6)*, 1687-1693.
- Jencso, K.J., McGlynn, B.L., Gooseff, M.N, Wondzell, S.M., Bencala, K.E., and Marshall, L.A. (2009). Hydrologic connectivity between landscapes and streams: Transferring reach and plot-scale understanding to the catchment scale. *Water Resources Research*, 45(4).

Jencso, K. G., and McGlynn, B. L. (2011). Hierarchical controls on runoff generation:

Topographically driven hydrologic connectivity, geology, and vegetation. *Water Resources Research*, *47*(11).

- Jencso, K. G., and McGlynn, B. L. (2015). Climate and terrain effect runoff thresholds in complex terrain. Manuscript in preparation.
- Jordan, J.P. (1994). Spatial and temporal variability of stormflow generation processes on a Swiss catchment. *Journal of Hydrology*, *153(1)*, 357-382.
- Karnieli, A., and Ben-Asher, J. (1993). A daily runoff simulation in semi-arid watersheds based on soil water deficit calculations. *Journal of Hydrology*, *149*(1), 9-25.
- Kendall, K. A., Shanley, J. B., and McDonnell, J. J. (1999). A hydrometric and geochemical approach to test the transmissivity feedback hypothesis during snowmelt. *Journal of Hydrology*, *219*(3), 188-205.
- Keyes, C.R., and Perry, T.E. (2010). Built for the future: New directions in silviculture research and demonstration at Montana's Lubrecht Experimental Forest. USDA Forest Service Proceedings RMRS-P-61.
- Knotters, M., Brus, D. J., and Voshaar, J. O. (1995). A comparison of kriging, co-kriging and kriging combined with regression for spatial interpolation of horizon depth with censored observations. *Geoderma*, *67*(3), 227-246.
- Logsdon, S. D., and Jaynes, D. B. (1996). Spatial variability of hydraulic conductivity in a cultivated field at different times. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *60*(3), 703-709.
- Maneta, M., Schnabel, S., and Jetten, V. (2008). Continuous spatially distributed simulation of surface and subsurface hydrological processes in a small semiarid catchment. *Hydrological Processes*, 22(13), 2196-2214.
- McGlynn, B.L., McDonnel, J.J., and Brammer, D.D. (2002). A review of the evolving perceptual model of hillslope flowpaths at the Maimai catchments, New Zealand. *Journal of Hydrology*, 257(1-4), 1-26.
- McGlynn, B. L., and McDonnell, J. J. (2003). Role of discrete landscape units in controlling catchment dissolved organic carbon dynamics. *Water Resources Research*, 39(4).
- Moradi, M., Ghonchehpour, D., Majidi, A., and Nejad, V. M. (2012). Geostatistic approaches for investigating of soil hydraulic conductivity in Shahrekord Plain, Iran. *American Journal of Mathematics and Statistics*, *2*(6), 164-168.

- Morrice, J. A., Valett, H., Dahm, C. N., and Campana, M. E. (1997). Alluvial characteristics, groundwater–surface water exchange and hydrological retention in headwater streams. *Hydrological Processes*, *11*(3), 253-267.
- Nielsen, D. R., Biggar, J. W., and Erh, K. T. (1973). *Spatial variability of field-measured soil-water properties*. University of California, Division of Agricultural Sciences.
- Nimlos, T. J. (1986). Soils of Lubrecht experimental forest. *Montana Forest and Conservation Experiment Station*.
- Niehoff, D., Fritsch, U., & Bronstert, A. (2002). Land-use impacts on storm-runoff generation: scenarios of land-use change and simulation of hydrological response in a meso-scale catchment in SW-Germany. *Journal of Hydrology*, *267*(1), 80-93.
- Noguchi, S., Tsuboyama, Y., Sidle, R.C., and Hosoda, I. (2001). Subsurface runoff characteristics from a forest hillslope soil profile including macropores, Hitachi Ohta, Japan. *Hydrological Processes, 15(11),* 2131-2149.
- Ocampo, C. J., Sivapalan, M., and Oldham, C. (2006). Hydrological connectivity of upland-riparian zones in agricultural catchments: Implications for runoff generation and nitrate transport. *Journal of Hydrology*, 331(3), 643-658.
- Pacific, V. J., McGlynn, B. L., Riveros-Iregui, D. A., Welsch, D. L., and Epstein, H. E. (2011). Landscape structure, groundwater dynamics, and soil water content influence soil respiration across riparian–hillslope transitions in the Tenderfoot Creek Experimental Forest, Montana. *Hydrological Processes*, 25(5), 811-827.
- Penížek, V. and Borůvka, L. (2006). Soil depth prediction supported by primary terrain attributes: a comparison of methods. *Plant Soil and Environment, (9),* 424-430.
- Perrin, C., Michel, C., and Andréassian, V. (2001). Does a large number of parameters Enhance model performance? Comparative assessment of common catchment model structures on 429 catchments. *Journal of Hydrology*, 242(3), 275-301.
- Pilgrim, D.H., Huff, D.D., and Steele, T.D. (1978). A field evaluation of subsurface and surface runoff: II. Runoff processes. *Journal of Hydrology*, *38*(*3-4*), 319-341.
- Piñol, J., Beven, K., & Freer, J. (1997). Modelling the hydrological response of Mediterranean catchments, Prades, Catalonia. The use of distributed models as aids to hypothesis formulation. *Hydrological Processes*, *11*(9), 1287-1306.

- Pulliainen, J. (2006). Mapping of snow water equivalent and snow depth in boreal and sub-arctic zones by assimilating space-borne microwave radiometer data and ground-based observations. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, *101*(2), 257-269.
- Robinson, T. P., and Metternicht, G. (2006). Testing the performance of spatial interpolation techniques for mapping soil properties. *Computers and electronics in agriculture*, *50*(2), 97-108.
- Ross, R.L. and Hunter, H.E. (1976). Climax Vegetation of Montana based on soils and climate. USDA Soil Conservation Service, Bozeman, Montana.
- Rupp, D.E., and J.S. Selker (2005). Drainage of a horizontal Boussinesq aquifer with a power law hydraulic conductivity profile, *Water Resources Research*, *41*(11).
- Rupp, D.E., and J.S. Selker (2006). On the use of the Boussinesq equation for interpreting recession hydrographs from sloping aquifers, *Water Resources Research*, *42*(12).
- Sherlock, M. D., Chappell, N. A., and McDonnell, J. J. (2000). Effects of experimental uncertainty on the calculation of hillslope flow paths. *Hydrological Processes*, *14*(14), 2457-2471.
- Sobieraj, J. A., Elsenbeer, H., Coelho, R. M., and Newton, B. (2002). Spatial variability of soil hydraulic conductivity along a tropical rainforest catena. *Geoderma*, *108*(1), 79-90.
- Sturm, M., Taras, B., Liston, G.E., Derksen, C., Jonas, T., and Lea, J. (2010). Estimating snow water equivalent using snow depth data and climate classes. *Journal of Hydrometeorology, 11(6),* 1380-1394.
- Stieglitz, M., Shaman, J., McNamara, J., Engel, V., Shanley, J., and Kling, G. W. (2003). An approach to understanding hydrologic connectivity on the hillslope and the implications for nutrient transport. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, *17*(4).
- Tromp-van Meerveld, H. J., and McDonnell, J. J. (2006a). On the interrelations between topography, soil depth, soil moisture, transpiration rates and species distribution at the hillslope scale. *Advances in Water Resources*, *29*(2), 293-310.
- Tromp-van Meerveld, H. J., and McDonnell, J. J. (2006b). Threshold relations in subsurface stormflow: 1. A 147-storm analysis of the Panola hillslope. *Water Resources Research*, *42*(2).

Tromp-van Meerveld, H. J., and McDonnell, J. J. (2006c). Threshold relations in

subsurface stormflow: 2. The fill and spill hypothesis. *Water Resources Research*, *4*2(2).

- United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resource Conservation Service, and Forest Service. (1995). Soil Survey of Missoula County Area, Montana: Part II.
- United States Department of Agriculture. (2008). Official Series Description: Winkler Series. Retrieved May 8, 2015, from https://soilseries.sc.egov.usda.gov/OSD\_Docs/W/WINKLER.html
- Van Schaik, L. (2010). The role of macropore flow from plot to catchment scale. *Netherlands Geographical Studies Faculteit Geowetenschappen Universiteit Utrecht*.
- Wetzel, K. (2003). Runoff production processes in small alpine catchments within the unconsolidated Pleistocene sediments of the Lainbach area (Upper Bavaria). *Hydrological Processes, 17(12),* 2463-2483.
- Weiler, M., and McDonnell, J. (2004). Virtual experiments: a new approach for improving process conceptualization in hillslope hydrology. *Journal of Hydrology*, *285*(1), 3-18.
- Weyman, D. R. (1973). Measurements of the downslope flow of water in a soil. *Journal* of Hydrology, 20(3), 267-288.
- Whipkey, R. Z. (1965). Subsurface stormflow from forested slopes. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, *10*(2), 74-85.
- Whittington, P. N., and Price, J. S. (2006). The effects of water table draw-down (as a surrogate for climate change) on the hydrology of a fen peatland, Canada. *Hydrological Processes*, 20(17), 3589-3600.
- Xiang-sheng, Y., Guo-sheng, L., Yan-yu, Y., and Jing-tao, P. (2012). Comparison on soil depth prediction amount different spatial interpolation methods: A case study in the Three-River Headwaters Region of Qinghai Province. *Geographical Research*, 31(10), 1793-1805
- Young, A. (1963). Some field observations of slope form and regolith, and their relation to slope development. *Transactions and Papers (Institute of British Geographers)*, 1-29.

# Appendix

Raw measurement data for snow water equivalent, saturated hydraulic conductivity, soil depth measurements. ND indicates no data.

Measurement Location	Ksat (cm/hr)	Depth to bedrock (cm)	SWE (cm)
2	ND	88.00	23.00
3	ND	ND	12.50
4	ND	ND	15.79
5	3.87	127.00	14.54
6	0.15	93.20	14.39
7	20.01	103.00	19.09
8	0.61	ND	14.10
9	1.11	98.60	16.42
10	1.54	98.90	16.26
11	1.21	130.01	11.72
12	1.30	98.20	17.77
13	20.01	123.10	16.72
14	ND	ND	10.19
15	8.43	130.01	18.33
16	20.01	127.90	10.92
17	1.19	113.50	14.38
18	2.94	82.50	13.72
19	1.22	69.00	19.13
20	1.15	84.20	17.48
21	1.56	86.50	19.68
22	ND	130.01	14.60
23	1.21	135.00	18.52
24	20.01	130.01	20.05
25	0.43	125.00	30.74
26	0.58	77.00	10.33
27	0.86	130.01	19.09
28	20.00	110.90	15.09
29	2.09	65.90	17.81
30	20.01	94.30	17.51
31	1.64	116.20	20.12
32	3.72	83.00	16.88
33	0.76	92.30	12.16
34	1.49	130.01	18.82
35	20.01	86.10	18.86
36	2.59	130.01	14.53

37	5.20	104.40	18.46
38	0.95	130.01	13.73
39	20.01	93.60	12.21
40	4.05	130.01	16.42
41	3.46	61.50	17.15
42	4.67	120.70	19.28
43	5.87	90.70	18.40
44	1.71	127.70	16.33
45	2.47	127.50	17.87
46	6.49	99.60	16.26
47	20.01	81.50	16.42
48	0.95	108.60	16.59
49	17.93	102.40	19.92
50	1.73	125.10	16.26
51	14.44	130.01	18.81
52	11.67	130.01	16.10
53	20.01	108.70	15.77
54	18.19	130.01	19.86
55	20.01	109.00	20.35
56	2.84	86.50	20.71
57	1.17	111.30	14.06
58	1.73	116.00	17.42
59	2.16	130.01	22.85
60	3.68	105.50	16.23
61	1.76	98.00	17.72
62	20.01	128.20	17.97
63	1.03	124.20	9.58
64	20.01	116.40	16.70
65	0.78	101.90	11.71
66	1.99	129.00	18.16
67	1.51	114.80	22.24
68	2.04	100.00	10.71
69	12.99	98.50	18.68
70	19.21	130.01	13.83
71	1.91	70.00	18.66
72	3.97	102.70	18.91
73	20.01	120.00	12.69
74	20.01	73.20	13.93
75	1.37	121.00	18.37
76	2.58	118.50	13.75
77	4.39	130.01	11.35
78	0.82	85.40	16.12
79	2.86	111.00	20.25

80	1.61	117.00	18.19
81	1.25	66.50	11.07
82	2.57	122.80	21.90
83	0.57	130.01	16.67
84	0.73	137.00	16.05
85	0.83	118.20	19.27
86	1.90	78.00	14.28
87	1.28	122.50	15.46
88	20.01	130.01	13.06
89	ND	ND	16.84
90	ND	ND	10.74
91	ND	ND	17.90
92	ND	ND	16.15
93	ND	ND	17.48
94	ND	ND	15.79
95	ND	ND	18.91
96	ND	ND	8.96
97	ND	ND	11.88
98	ND	ND	19.15
99	ND	ND	18.80
100	ND	ND	13.24
101	ND	ND	12.91
102	ND	ND	16.80

Hillslope data for water table monitoring wells which demonstrated a water table response during the study period. PoR refers to the entire period of record from 3/4/2014 to 9/12/2014. WTH refers to water table height.

Wells	Area (m2)	UAA (m2)	Soil depth (cm)	Ksat (cm/hr)	SWE (mm)
1	2200.12	2200.12	116.45	11.04	1608.62
2	538.94	2737.42	116.66	4.77	1612.08
5	1443.47	5736.86	110.92	9.39	1531.04
6	219.31	219.31	108.71	2.01	1555.45
7	153.83	153.83	108.79	3.35	1524.15
8	728.29	6834.28	107.96	1.30	1535.82

		Local mean Ksat	Local median depth	Local mean depth	
Wells	Local median Ksat (cm/hr)	(cm/hr)	(cm)	(cm)	Mean soil depth (cm)
1	2.97	4.35	104.03	104.12	104.12
2	3.26	5.31	99.23	100.76	100.76
5	9.77	9.65	110.07	107.50	107.50
6	3.05	3.04	109.54	109.73	109.73
7	12.76	12.83	110.60	110.63	110.63
8	3.27	5.25	109.52	109.66	109.66

			Local median SWE	Local mean SWE	UAA median Ksat
Wells	Std. deviation soil depth (cm)	Soil depth range (cm)	(mm)	(mm)	(cm/hr)
1	5.82	26.71	1593.55	1597.80	2.97
2	8.03	27.65	1619.57	1607.34	3.16
5	6.61	27.49	1619.14	1616.88	5.44
6	1.77	9.00	1620.73	1611.72	3.05
7	2.05	7.58	1577.94	1589.47	12.76
8	1.53	8.71	1551.65	1562.68	4.88

		UAA n	nedian depth		UAA median SWE	
Wells	UAA mean Ksat (cm/hr)	(cm)		UAA mean depth (cm)	(mm)	UAA mean SWE (mm)
1		4.35	104.03	104.12	1593.55	1597.80
2		4.77	103.63	103.65	1593.55	1597.09
5		6.58	107.96	106.31	1601.49	1603.33
6		3.04	109.54	109.73	1620.73	1611.72

7	12.83	110.60	110.63	1577.94	1589.47
8	6.41	109.40	107.60	1595.88	1595.97

		Duration Saturation		Median WTH PoR	
Wells	Duration saturation (hr)	(%)	Mean WTH PoR (cm)	(cm)	Mean WTH Sat (cm)
1	1258.00	0.27	1.50	0.00	5.47
2	1465.50	0.32	3.43	0.00	10.75
5	1397.50	0.30	1.64	0.00	5.38
6	1167.50	0.41	4.88	0.00	11.98
7	263.50	0.09	2.84	0.00	30.86
8	1888.50	0.41	11.15	0.00	27.06

Wells	Median WTH Sat (cm)	Max WT Height (cm)	t connect downhill (hr)	t connect uphill (hr)	$\Delta t$ saturation-melt (hr)
1	3.00	61.00	0.00		367.50
2	11.00	44.00	0.00	646.50	557.50
5	5.00	52.00	850.50	0.00	341.50
6	8.00	42.00	193.00	366.00	563.50
7	21.00	137.00	123.50	139.00	340.50
8	24.00	122.00		850.50	552.00

Wells	API March & April	API April	API June	API August	Average API
1	8.66	8.66	5.16	5.47	6.43
2	0.69	14.43	3.26	5.51	7.73
5	7.17	7.17	2.72		4.95
6	0.92	14.43			14.43
7	7.17	7.17		4.31	5.74
8	0.69	14.43	3.26	4.31	7.33